ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Charleston County

Honorable William H. Seals, Circuit Court Judge

ALONZA DENNIS,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-000089

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

VICTOR R. SEEGER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

RECEIVED

JUL 23 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether trial counsel provided ineffective assistance when she failed to obtain Detective Lawrence's personnel file to impeach his crucial testimony at the suppression hearing, where trial counsel was on notice that impeaching Detective Lawrence's credibility was paramount in Petitioner's case?

STATEMENT

During the October 2009 term, the Charleston County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner for Assault and Battery with Intent to Kill (ABWIK), Attempted Armed Robbery, and Possession of a Firearm during the Commission of a Violent Crime. App. 700 – 705.

Petitioner's trial was held on March 14 – 16, 2011, in front of the Honorable Roger M. Young, and a jury. App. 1. Jennifer Shealy and Timothy Finch represented the state. Id. Andrew Grimes and Megan Ehrlich represented Petitioner. Id.

As a result of the coerced statement that Petitioner gave to Detective Lawrence, Petitioner was found guilty as of ABWIK and Possession of a Firearm during the Commission of a Violent Crime. App. 599, ll. 2 – 8. Due to a prior conviction, Judge Young sentenced Petitioner to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole for ABWIK pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45(A)(2)(b) and five years' imprisonment for Possession of a Firearm during the Commission of a Violent Crime. App. 602, l. 5 – 606, ll. 22; S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45(A)(2)(b).

Petitioner filed his post-conviction relief application on September 3, 2014. App. 608 – 613. The state filed its return on April 27, 2015. App. 615 – 618. An evidentiary hearing was held on January 12, 2017 in front of the Honorable William H. Seals. App. 620. Rodney Davis represented Petitioner and Alicia Olive represented the state. Id.

By an order filed November 11, 2017, Judge Seals denied Petitioner's post-conviction relief application because trial counsel, "had no reason to suspect Detective Lawrence was untruthful or did not perform his job adequately at the time." App. 682 – 699.

This petition follows.

ARGUMENT

Trial counsel provided ineffective assistance when she failed to obtain Detective Lawrence's personnel file to impeach his crucial testimony at the suppression hearing, where trial counsel was on notice that impeaching Detective Lawrence's credibility was paramount in Petitioner's case.

Relevant Facts

On June 22, 2009, four men attempted to rob Moses Alford, and during the attempt Alford was shot. App. 181, ll. 2 – 20. Petitioner did not want to participate with the other three men and only went with them because he feared severe bodily harm if he refused. App. 475, l. 15 – 476, l. 3.

Moses Alford was the proprietor of a clothing store. App. 162, ll. 15 – 21. Alford would travel to buy clothes from whole-sellers and, while traveling, would sell clothes out of his car. App. 163, ll. 15 – 25. The other three men planned a ruse where they called Alford to meet them at a Kangaroo gas station to buy clothes from him, but they were actually going to rob him. App. 473, l. 22 – 475, l. 14.

Petitioner testified at trial that one of his co-defendants told Alford, "Give me your clothes and your money." App. 482, ll. 12 – 18. However, it is alleged that Petitioner said to Alford, "give me everything." App. 181, ll. 2 – 20. During the incident, Alford reached for his own gun. App. 182, l. 12 – 13. The co-defendants gave Petitioner a gun shortly before the incident and, in fear of being shot by Alford, Petitioner defended himself by firing it. App. 484, l. 21 – 485, l. 1; App. 487, ll. 14 – 22. Petitioner did not intend to hit Alford when he fired in self-defense, he only wanted to scare Alford. App. 485, ll. 2 – 5; App. 487, ll. 2 – 25.

The police arrested Petitioner shortly after the incident for an unrelated offense. App. 78, 1. 22 – 79, 1. 2. When he was arrested, Detective Casale read Petitioner his Miranda¹ rights, and Petitioner told Detective Casale that he did not want to talk to the police then. App. 41, ll. 18 – 19.

On June 22, 2009, the same day he was arrested, Petitioner was taken to police headquarters. App. 271, ll. 2 – 9. While at police headquarters, Petitioner was read his Miranda rights by Detective Kip Cooke. App. 373, ll. 17 – 23. Petitioner signed a waiver of rights form. App. 377, 1. 1 – 378, 1. 20. Detective Cooke left the room and Detective Lawrence began to interview Petitioner. App. 379, ll. 19 – 23. The interview lasted approximately two hours. App. 81, ll. 6 – 15.

On June 29, 2009, Detective Lawrence decided to interview Petitioner again. App. 85, ll. 3 – 8. Detective Lawrence testified that he read Petitioner his Miranda rights and Petitioner signed a second waiver of rights form. App. 86, ll. 1 – 3; App. 88, ll. 3 – 4. Detective Lawrence also claimed that he did not threaten or promise Petitioner anything. App. 89, ll. 13 – 16. However, Petitioner testified that Detective Lawrence threatened him that if he did not cooperate they would turn the case over to the federal government and that if the federal authorities “picked up his case it would be hard on him.” App. 111, 1. 21 – 112, 1. 18.

After hearing the threat, Petitioner made an inculpatory statement that explained his involvement in the incident. App. 89, ll. 17 – 21. Petitioner stated that he shot in self-defense because he was scared that Alford was going to shoot him and that he did not intend to hit Alford. App. 483, 1. 5 – 485, 1. 5. Petitioner also stated that the only reason he participated in the incident was because he feared severe bodily harm from the three other co-defendants if he

¹ Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966)

refused. App. 460, l. 7 – 461, l. 14; App. 461, l. 16 – 462, l. 13; App. 462, l. 25 – 463, l. 4; App. 475, l. 22 – 476, l. 14; App. 480, ll. 1 – 17.

At trial, a Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368 (1964), hearing was held to determine the admissibility of the June 22 and 29, 2009 statements made by Petitioner. App. 37, ll. 19 – 21.

Several witnesses testified at the suppression motion hearing. Detective Casale testified that Petitioner's case was, "Detective Lawrence's case." App. 48, l. 2. Detective Cooke testified that Petitioner was very quiet. App. 55, l. 16. Cooke testified that he read Petitioner his Miranda rights at police headquarters. App. 57, ll. 4 – 12. Cooke testified that he did no questioning of Petitioner. Id. Detective Lawrence was the only person to witness Petitioner sign the waiver of rights form. App. 60, ll. 2 – 8; App. 61, ll. 3 – 5; App. 80, ll. 4 – 6; 379, ll. 17 – 18.

At the suppression motion, Detective Cooke testified that on June 29, 2009 Petitioner was brought to the, "interview room," to be interrogated by Detective Lawrence, instead of the, "captain's office," where he was taken on June 22, 2009 for the first interview. App. 62, l. 19 – 63, l. 7. Cooke opined that the interview room is a different type of room, "it's a dedicated interview room." Id. However, on cross examination, Cooke testified that there were no recording devices present in this particular, "dedicated interview room." App. 70, ll. 8 – 9.

Detective Lawrence testified during the suppression motion as well. He claimed that Petitioner did not say at any point that he did not want to talk to police or that he wanted a lawyer present. App. 81, l. 24 – 82, l. 3. He speculated repeatedly on Petitioner's truthfulness, and testified that Petitioner was being evasive in an effort to see how much information the police knew before telling them the truth. App. 82, ll. 4 – 6; App. 82, ll. 10 – 17.

During cross-examination Detective Lawrence testified at length that Petitioner was deceitful and that Petitioner was trying to find out what the police knew to gain a strategic

advantage. App. 92, ll. 1 – 22. He then directly contradicted his earlier testimony when he admitted Petitioner was not trying to find out information the police had against him before telling the truth. App. 101, ll. 9 – 11.

During the suppression hearing, Petitioner testified that Detective Lawrence coerced the June 29, 2009 statement by telling Petitioner he would get federal agents involved in the case if Petitioner did not cooperate. App. 111, l. 21 – 112, l. 1. Lawrence's threat to federalize Petitioner's case made Petitioner fearful because he interpreted that to mean the "feds will give you more time." App. 112, ll. 2 – 7.

Trial counsel pressed Lawrence on the defense's coercion argument. Initially, when Detective Lawrence was asked whether he said anything to Petitioner about involving the federal government in Petitioner's case, he denied it. App. 82, l. 25 – 83, l. 1. Then Lawrence admitted the conversation about involving the federal government took place, but that Petitioner did not hear it. App. 104, ll. 6 – 11. However, upon further questioning he admitted that Petitioner may "have [heard] use talking outside of the room on that." App. 104, 14 – 16. Moreover, Lawrence had to admit that the conversation he had with a fellow officer about involving the federal government in Petitioner's case was held, "right outside the door to the interview room." App. 105, ll. 20 – 24.

Defense counsel argued that Petitioner's testimony was more "powerful" than Lawrence's because it spoke to, "a clear account of what happened." App. 124, l. 23 – 125, l. 4. Defense counsel argued, that Lawrence's reluctant admission that Petitioner may have overheard Lawrence talking to other officers about the case, "going federal," corroborated Petitioner's testimony about the threat of turning the case over to the federal government. Moreover, Defense

counsel concluded, “[I]f it wasn’t [for the] testimony about the case going federal, we don’t believe Mr. Dennis would have made that second statement.” App. 125, ll. 5 – 12.

The state argued that the procedures that the police followed were in accordance with Miranda. App. 125, l. 16. Judge Young found Detective Lawrence’s testimony credible and denied Petitioner’s motion to suppress the statement. App.130, ll. 2 – 4. At trial, defense counsel made contemporaneous objections to the admittance of the June 22 and 29, 2009 statements. App. 376, ll. 5 – 7; App. 396, ll. 3 – 4. Petitioner was acquitted of attempted armed robbery, but found guilty of ABWIK and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime. App. 599, ll. 2 – 8.

Petitioner then filed a post-conviction relief application which alleged that trial counsel provided ineffective assistance because she failed to obtain a copy of Detective Lawrence’s personnel file to impeach his credibility. App. 608 – 614.

Post-Conviction Relief Hearing

At his post-conviction relief hearing, Petitioner testified that Detective Lawrence threatened Petitioner that he would, “see to it the defendant[’s] case [would] be picked up by the feds if the defendant did not cooperate with him.” App. 656, ll. 8 – 11.

Trial counsel also testified at the post-conviction hearing that Detective Lawrence did all the questioning. App. 626, l. 13. Trial counsel clarified that even though other officers were involved in the case, Detective Lawrence was the lead detective. App. 626, ll. 18 – 21. Of great concern was the fact that the police in this case recorded **none** of the statements made by anyone. App. 629, ll. 8 – 11. (emphasis added) Trial counsel testified, “[T]hey didn’t record co-defendants. They didn’t record witnesses. They didn’t record the accuser in this case. There was no audio recording or anything. They didn’t record. They did identifications at one point, none of

that is recorded.” App, 629, ll. 13 – 17. Moreover, there was no “in-depth report” from Detective Lawrence regarding any statements he took either. App. 629, ll. 23 – 25.

Detective Lawrence’s shortcuts in his investigation left the trial court in a position where the only issue at the suppression motion was the credibility of the police verses the credibility of Petitioner. App. 630, ll. 10 – 14.

Trial counsel testified at the post-conviction relief hearing about the litany of episodes that involved Detective Lawrence that eventually got him fired from the police force because of his dishonesty. App. 630, l. 18 – 633, l. 8. Trial counsel explained that her impetus to obtain Detective Lawrence’s personnel file was because, “[S]ome time in 2014, we were made aware that Detective Lawrence had been fired by the Sheriff’s Office... We remembered how crucial Detective Lawrence’s testimony had been to convicting Mr. Dennis. And so we requested his personnel file to get more information about it.” App. 630, ll. 18 – 25. She testified that she had reviewed the file and that there were incidents of wrongful behavior by Detective Lawrence, that affected his credibility, that predated both Petitioner’s trial and Petitioner’s arrest on June 22, 2009. App. 631, ll. 3 – 15.

Detective Lawrence’s troubled behavior seeped into his job performance. Trial counsel testified that she was particularly concerned with Detective Lawrence’s credibility regarding the coercion argument that she raised at trial. App. 641, l. 14 – 642, l. 25. Trial counsel discovered Lawrence had a history of publicly threatening people, “because there was also a write-up in his personnel file where he, outside of preliminary hearing court, was cursing at a family or maybe a suspect related to a case.” App. 641, ll. 21 – 24. She explained that if the defense could have shown that Detective Lawrence had a history of public threatening people then the defense could use that prior bad behavior to help Petitioner’s case. App. 640, l. 14 – 641, l. 24; App. 644, ll. 2 –

11. Trial counsel testified that if she obtained Lawrence's personnel file prior to trial, she would have confronted him with the personnel file when he denied coercing Petitioner into making the inculpatory statement. App. 643, ll. 8 – 15.

Another incident involved, a 2008 case where Detective Lawrence was suspended in May of 2009, where he was involved in an incident where a car almost hit his car. Detective Lawrence was off duty. And he responded by firing shots in the direction of that car. Eventually, Detective Lawrence notified the police of the incident, but **he didn't report that he fired shots**. He got in trouble again for use of force." App. 631, l. 24 – 632, l. 7. (emphasis added)

Trial counsel testified that in 2007, "[Detective Lawrence] was tasked to investigate a missing child... And he was sent out -- he was supposed to talk to the parents, and **lied** and said he had [talked to them,] when he had not." App. 631, ll. 16 – 23. (emphasis added)

Detective Lawrence's misconduct continued and he was eventually fired for it. App. 633, ll. 13 – 15. Detective Lawrence, "was having a sexual relationship with a suspect's mother in a homicide where he was the detective, on top of the fact that there was that inappropriate relationship. He had been questioned about it and **found to be untruthful**." App. 633, ll. 16 – 19. (emphasis added)

Prior to discovering Detective Lawrence's true nature, trial counsel opined, "I liked Detective Lawrence. I mean, you meet him and you like him. He's kind of a charming guy. And it's hard to think of him acting that way unless you've seen it or you know it. And I think it would have been hard to paint him in his true light without knowing that information. I mean, he comes across great." App. 641, ll. 1 – 6. She elaborated on the enormous impact that having Detective Lawrence's personnel file to impeach him would have made during the trial,

"I think confronted with some of his prior behavior, you would have seen little bit more of him. He did a lot of editorializing

during the trial of [Petitioner's] truthfulness. He kept commenting on how he could say he was deceitful and he was evading me and things that that we kept objecting to. But, still, having an officer who comes across well without being able to really attack his credibility, I think hurt [Petitioner]... overall.”

App. 641, ll. 7 – 15. She further commented on the typical jury's view of an officer at trial, “it's hard to attack a police officer's credibility. People automatically are going to think better of them. I think that's just the way it is. He, in particular, can come across very well. And I think that helped the State's case.” App. 641, ll. 16 – 20.

Trial counsel explained the severe problem the defense faced in Petitioner's case because they could not adequately challenge Detective Lawrence's credibility at trial. App. 642, ll. 20 – 22. For example, Detective Lawrence claimed that Petitioner was deceitful during interrogation, which further necessitated a challenge to his credibility. App. 641, ll. 10 – 12. Without the testimony from Detective Lawrence, the other evidence against Petitioner at trial was not overwhelming. Trial counsel testified that only one of the co-defendants cooperated with police and that individual gave a statement a year and a half later that, conveniently, conformed with what already had been revealed in discovery. App. 639, ll. 8 – 11. Therefore, the case turned on the credibility battle between Petitioner and Detective Lawrence.

Even more telling was trial counsel's testimony, during cross examination at the post-conviction relief hearing, that she requests police officer's personnel files “much more frequently,” since the Detective Lawrence situation². App. 652, ll. 9 – 12. It is important to note that she did not testify that she limits her requests for police officer personnel files to instances where she already suspects wrongful police conduct.

² Defense counsel's testimony is understood to mean that she routinely requests police personnel files and that she successfully obtains them.

Trial counsel is correct to not limit her requests for police officer personnel files to instances where she already suspects wrongful police conduct because that is not the standard to which effective assistance of counsel is held. Trial counsel has a duty to, when the known evidence would point a reasonable attorney to, investigate further. In other words, when trial counsel knows a prospective case will turn on a credibility battle between the police and her client, she has a duty to investigate further into the officer's credibility. Walker v. State, 407 S.C. 400, 405, 756 S.E.2d 144, 147 (2014). That principle is reflected in trial counsel's current behavior in that she investigates officer personnel files "much more frequently". Id. Different counties may have different procedures for turning over police personnel files. Charleston routinely discloses a personnel file when the Ninth Circuit Public Defender's office makes the request.

The state argued that there was no evidence that Lawrence did anything untoward in this case. However, that is not the standard by which effective counsel is determined. Trial counsel had a duty to investigate the issues that she should have reasonably known would be important. In response to the state's argument, trial counsel reiterated the importance of obtaining Detective Lawrence's personnel file because without it she had, "no way of knowing what he actually did or didn't do," because she could no longer take Detective Lawrence at his word. App. 653, ll. 3 – 10.

Judge Seals agreed with the state that trial counsel was not ineffective for failure to obtain Detective Lawrence's personnel file to impeach his credibility because trial counsel had no reason to suspect any wrong doing on Detective Lawrence's part until years after Petitioner's trial. App. 698. That was an error and that error prejudiced Petitioner.

Discussion

It is assumed that to provide effective assistance of counsel the attorney must exercise common sense. In a case where defense counsel knows, or has reason to know, that the outcome of the trial will turn on a credibility battle between the police and their client, she has a duty to investigate into the officers' criminal and work history to impeach their credibility at trial.

The suppression motion, upon which Petitioner's trial hinged, boiled down to a credibility battle. Trial counsel provided ineffective assistance where she knew that challenging Detective Lawrence's credibility would be crucial to Petitioner's case and where she failed to obtain Detective Lawrence's personnel file to impeach his credibility. Thus, the PCR court erred in holding that trial counsel provided effective assistance of counsel. App. 364–368; *See Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984) (provides that a petitioner must show that counsel was deficient and that the deficiency prejudiced the outcome of petitioner's proceedings); *see also Gallman v. State*, 307 S.C. 273, 414 S.E.2d 780 (1992).

In a PCR action, “[t]he burden of proof is on the applicant to prove his allegations by a preponderance of the evidence.” *Frasier v. State*, 351 S.C. 385, 389, 570 S.E.2d 172, 174 (2002) (citing Rule 71.1(e), SCRCP). Where ineffective assistance of counsel is alleged as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove that “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 686; *Butler v. State*, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985).

The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Courts presume that counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. *Butler*, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813. The applicant must overcome this

presumption to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

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