STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

CERTIORARI TO CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
William Seals, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-000089

---

ALONZA DENNIS,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR  
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

BENJAMIN LIMBAUGH  
S.C. Bar No. 103334  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED  
DEC 07 2018  
S.C. SUPREME COURT

**

**RESPONDENT'S ISSUES PRESENTED**

Whether trial counsel provided ineffective assistance when she failed to obtain Detective Lawrence's personnel file to impeach his testimony at the suppression hearing, where trial counsel had no reason to know that fruitful information could be gathered from said file?

## STATEMENT

During the October 2009 term, the Charleston County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner for Assault and Battery with Intent to Kill, Attempted Armed Robbery, and Possession of a Firearm during the Commission of a Violent Crime. App. 700-705.

Petitioner's trial was held on March 14-16, 2011, in front of the Honorable Roger M. Young, and a jury. App. 1. Jenifer Shealy and Timothy Finch represented the state. Id. Andrew Grimes and Megan Ehrlich represented Petitioner. Id.

Part of the State's case was a statement given by Petitioner to Detective Lawrence, Petitioner was found guilty as of ABWIK and Possession of a Firearm during the Commission of a Violent Crime. App. 599, ll. 2-8. Due to a prior conviction, Judge Young sentenced Petitioner of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole for ABWIK pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §17-25-45(A)(2)(b) and five years' imprisonment for Possession of a firearm during the Commission of a Violent Crime. App. 602, l. 5-606, ll. 22; S.C. Code Ann. §17-25-45 (A)(2)(b).

Petitioner filed a timely Notice of Appeal. His appeal was perfected by Lanelle Durant, Esquire, of the Office of Appellate Defense. The Applicant's convictions and sentences were affirmed by the Court of Appeals. State v. Alonza, No. 5111 (S.C. Ct. App. April 3, 2013). The Supreme Court denied the Applicant's Petition for Writ of Certiorari on August 21, 2014. The Remittitur was issued on August 27, 2014.

Petitioner filed his post-conviction relief application on September 3, 2014. App. 608-61. The state filed its return on April 27, 2015. App. 615-618. An evidentiary hearing was held on January 12, 2017 in front of the Honorable William H. Seals. App. 620. Rodney Davis represented Petitioner and Alicia Olive represented the state. Id.

By an order filed November 11, 2017, Judge Seals denied Petitioner's post-conviction relief application because trial counsel, "had no reason to suspect Detective Lawrence was untruthful or did not perform his job adequately at the time." App. 682-699.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for post-conviction relief matters depends on the specific issues before the appellate court. Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018). On appellate review, courts give great deference to a post-conviction relief court's findings of fact and will uphold them if there is **any** evidence in the record to support them. Smalls, 422 S.C. at 179, 810 S.E.2d at 839-40 (citing Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016); Jordan v. State, 406 S.C. 443, 448, 752 S.E.2d 538, 540 (2013); Caprood v. State, 338 S.C. 103, 109, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000)). However, pure questions of law will be reviewed *de novo* without deference to the lower court. Id. Appellate courts will reverse the decision of the post-conviction relief court when it is controlled by an error of law. Goins v. State, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012).

## RELEVANT FACTS

On June 22, 2009, Applicant fired five shots at Moses Alford. (Tr. p. 182.) Out of the five shots, three of the bullets hit Alford.

Earlier that day, applicant went to the home of La Seto Gibson (Quan). Quan's cousins, Kaylab Wright and Trevor Gibbs, were also at Quan's house (Tr. p. 224-225.) Quan called Alford to see if he could purchase some clothes. (Tr. p. 166-167; Tr. p. 225.) Alford agreed to meet Quan at the Kangaroo gas station in McClellanville. (Tr. p. 168.)

According to Gibbs, Applicant wanted to rob Alford; however Quan, Wright, and Gibbs left Applicant at Quan's house because they did not want to be involved in a robbery. (Tr. p. 229-230.) Quan's grandfather drove Applicant to the Kangaroo where Quan, Wright, and Gibbs were located. Applicant got into Quan's car. Quan and Wright got out of Quan's car and went to Alford's car to look at the clothing. (Tr. p. 177.) Wright returned to Quan's car because he did not like any of the clothes. (Tr. p. 234.)

At some point, Wright took Applicant's gun from him. Applicant wanted his gun back. (Tr. p. 235.) Wright gave Applicant his gun back and told Applicant to not do anything stupid. (Tr. p. 235-236.) Upon Applicant's request, Wright let Applicant out of the car. (Tr. p. 236.)

While Alford was looking in the back seat of the car for an article of clothing, Applicant approached Alford's car. (Tr. p. 179-181.) Applicant pointed a gun at Alford and said, "Give me everything." (Tr. p. 180-182.) When Alford reached for his gun, Applicant shot Alford in the arm, leg, and back. (Tr. p. 182; Tr. p. 480.) At trial, Applicant testified he did not intend to kill Alford; he just wanted to scare him. (Tr. p. 484; Tr. p. 508.) However, Applicant testified he shot

to the side of Alford instead of shooting in the air. (Tr. p. 507.) After Applicant shot Alford, Applicant ran into the woods. (Tr. p. 184.)

On the day of the shooting, Peggy Owen testified she saw Applicant hide behind a car in her driveway, and Applicant ran away when the police got close. (Tr. p. 293-294.) Shortly thereafter, a canine unit found Applicant. (Tr. p. 311.) The police found a crack pipe in Applicant's pocket. (Tr. p. 492; Tr. p. 549.) two days after the shooting, the police found the gun Applicant used to shoot Alford in a drainage pipe near Owen's house. (Tr. p. 295-297; Tr. p. 334-337.) At trial, Investigator Kathy Kjellman testified that no shell casings were found at the scene of the shooting. (Tr. p. 363.) However, revolvers do not eject shell casings. Moreover, the gun found in the drainage pipe near Owen's house was a revolver.

After the canine unit found Applicant, the police brought Applicant back to the Kangaroo. (Tr. p. 40-41.) At the time, Applicant was under arrest for trespassing. (Tr. p. 78-79.) Detective Wagner conducted a gun residue test on Applicant, and Detective Albert Casale read Applicant his rights under Miranda. (Tr. p. 41-43; Tr. p. 47.) According to Detective Casale, Applicant cooperated and did not seem to be confused or intoxicated. (Tr. p. 45; Tr. p. 48.) Detective Casale told Applicant that if Applicant wanted to talk to the police, then he needed to sign the waiver form. (Tr. p. 47.) Applicant told Detective Casale that he did not really want to talk "at that time." (Tr. p. 48; Tr. p. 51-52.) At that point, Detective Casale secured Applicant in the car and informed Applicant that Detective Charles Lawrence would speak to Applicant later that day. (Tr. p. 47-48; Tr. p. 52-53.) Thereafter, Deputy Robert Thornley transported Applicant to the police headquarters. (Tr. p. 271.)

Approximately five to six hours after Detective Casale advised Applicant of his rights at the Kangaroo station, Detective Kip Cooke advised Applicant of his rights at the police

headquarters. (Tr. p. 55; Tr. p. 57; Tr. p. 129.) While Detective Cooke was advising Applicant of his rights, Detective Lawrence came into the room. (Tr. p. 57.) Applicant signed the waiver of rights form. (Tr. p. 61.) Detective Casale left the room in order to work on another case.

At 9:04 p.m. Detective Lawrence began the interview. (Tr. p. 91.) Neither Detective Cooke nor Detective Lawrence knew that Applicant told Detective Casale that he did not want to talk "at that time." (Tr. p. 67; Tr. p. 99-100.) Furthermore, Applicant never told Detective Lawrence he did not want to talk. (Tr. p. 81-82.) Moreover, Applicant never asked for an attorney. (Tr. p. 62; Tr. p. 82.)

During the interview, Detective Lawrence did not make any promises or threats. (Tr. p. 82.) Applicant made a statement essentially denying any involvement in the robbery. Applicant stated he did not know why he was under arrest. The interview lasted approximately two hours. (Tr. p. 81.)

On June 29, 2009, after learning new developments in the case, Detective Lawrence decided to interview Applicant again. (Tr. p. 84-85.) Detective Lawrence transported Applicant to the police headquarters and read Applicant his Miranda rights. (Tr. p. 84; Tr. p. 86.) Applicant signed the acknowledgment and waiver of rights form. (Tr. p. 87-89.) Detective Lawrence did not make any threats or promises. (Tr. p. 89; Tr. p. 381.) Although Applicant claimed Detective Lawrence told him that if the federal authorities picked up his case it would be hard on him, Detective Lawrence testified he never threatened to turn over Applicant's case to the federal authorities. (Tr. p. 82-83; Tr. p. 111-112.) However, Detective Lawrence did inform Applicant that Alford identified Applicant as the shooter. (Tr. p. 90.) At that point, Applicant made a statement. (Tr. p. 90-91.)

According to Applicant's June 29<sup>th</sup> statement, Quan, Wright, and Gibbs wanted to rob someone, and they wanted Applicant to be involved. (Tr. p. 106.) However, before the robbery took place, they told Applicant that they did not need him. Quan, Wright, and Gibbs left Quan's house, and Quan's grandfather gave Applicant a ride to the Kangaroo. Applicant saw Quan, Wright and Gibbs at the Kangaroo. They "forced" Applicant into Quan's car. They told Applicant to get the gun and rob Alford. Someone told Alford to give "us" your money. At that point, Alford went for his gun as he attempted to run away from Applicant. Applicant admitted he shot Alford; however, Applicant claimed he only shot Alford to keep Alford from shooting him. Applicant's testimony at trial was largely consistent with his June 29<sup>th</sup> statement. (Tr. p. 467-485.) However, at trial, Applicant admitted no one threatened or forced him to rob and shoot Alford; Applicant was just scared of Quan, Wright, and Gibbs. (Tr. p. 504-505; Tr. p 509; Tr. p. 514.)

### **PCR Hearing**

At the evidentiary hearing, trial counsel Megan Ehrlich testified. She testified she was the lead attorney handling Applicant's case and had assistance from Andrew Grimes, a fellow public defender who has since passed away. (PCR Tr. 6). She testified Applicant was questioned by law enforcement three separate times, including June 22, 2009, and seven days later on June 29, 2009. (PCR Tr. 7, 9, 31). She testified the lead detective handling this case was Detective Lawrence, who was present when Applicant gave at least two of his statements. (PCR Tr. 7-8). She testified the defense tried to suppress these statements and Grimes handled the pre-trial motion to suppress hearing. (PCR Tr. 7-9). She testified the defense theory for why these statements should be suppressed was that Applicant initially said he did not want to speak to law enforcement and law enforcement continued to question him. (PCR Tr. 9, 31-32). She testified

that three different detectives were involved in the questioning of Applicant and none of his statements were recorded. (PCR Tr. 10). She testified law enforcement did not do a report pertaining to any of Applicant's statements. (PCR Tr. 10-11). She testified defense counsel argued Applicant's statements were coerced, but that there was no allegation of physical abuse or threats of harm to Applicant. (PCR Tr. 47). Trial counsel testified Applicant testified at the motion to suppress hearing and ruling trial. (PCR Tr. 11). She testified the trial court denied the motion to suppress and the statements were introduced at trial. (PCR Tr. 11).

Trial counsel testified that three years after Applicant's trial, in 2014, she was made aware that Detective Lawrence was fired from the Sheriff's Office for having a sexual relationship with a suspect's mother in a homicide investigation. (PCR Tr. 11, 13). She testified this made her think of Applicant's case and how crucial Detective Lawrence's testimony had been in Applicant's case. (PCR Tr. 11). She testified she sought and obtained a copy of Detective Lawrence's personnel file pursuant to a Freedom of Information Act request. (PCR Tr. 11-12, 14) She testified Detective Lawrence's personnel file was quite large and contained numerous instances that she could have used to attack his credibility, including lying about speaking with parents in a missing child investigation, shooting at another vehicle that almost hit his car while he was off-duty, and circumstances surrounding a domestic dispute. (PCR Tr. 13-16, 21-23). She testified the personnel file also revealed Detective Lawrence's investigative skills were marked a 2.5 out of 4 on an evaluation. (PCR Tr. 13-14). She testified she was not aware of any of this information at the time of Applicant's trial in 2011 and had no reason to suspect Detective Lawrence was untruthful or did not perform his job adequately at the time of Applicant's trial. (PCR Tr. 15, 22, 29). She testified if she had known Detective Lawrence had all of these issues before trial, she also would have requested the personnel file for Detective Cooke to try to attack

the validity of Applicant's statements further. (PCR Tr. 17-18). She elaborated that Detective Cooke did not prepare a report of his interrogation of Applicant and was testifying from memory of events that transpired more than two years earlier. (PCR Tr. 18). She testified it was not her standard practice at the time of Applicant's trial to obtain the personnel files of detectives who worked on her client's cases, but she does this more frequently now. (PCR Tr. 33, 53).

Trial counsel testified the case involved Applicant and three cousins, who were younger than Applicant and appeared to be more sophisticated and could manipulate Applicant. (PCR Tr. 19, 49). She testified two cousins gave statements to law enforcement immediately after they were arrested, but the third cousin, Trevor Gibbs, did not initially provide a statement but testified at trial. (PCR Tr. 19-21). She testified the victim identified Applicant as the shooter from a photo array and that Applicant's hand tested positive for gunshot residue. (PCR Tr. 20).

Trial counsel testified there were some minor inconsistencies between the victim's statement and testimony and that provided by Gibbs, including the location of the first few shots and the color of Applicant's gun, but no major inconsistencies. (PCR Tr. 24-26, 48-49). She testified she reviewed the statements given to law enforcement and highlighted any inconsistencies in preparation for cross-examination. (PCR Tr. 47). She testified he also investigated Gibbs and was able to determine he had violated his house arrest. (PCR Tr. 48). She testified she was not able to find much information to use for cross-examination of the victim. (PCR Tr. 48).

Counsel testified Applicant was originally arrested for trespassing and was not charged with the three offenses for which he was indicted until the following day. (PCR Tr. 26-27). She testified there was no proof that Applicant was not allowed to be on the property or had otherwise been put on trespass notice. (PCR Tr. 27). She testified there was also an allegation

that Detective Lawrence had threatened Applicant by mentioning within Applicant's earshot that the case might become federal if Applicant did not cooperate with law enforcement, which defense counsel raised to the trial court. (PCR Tr. 23-24, 47). She testified she requested jury instructions on self-defense and ABHAN, but both were denied by the trial court. (PCR Tr. 50).

Trial counsel testified she and Grimes spent a significant amount of time with Applicant explaining the advantages and disadvantages of testifying at trial. (PCR Tr. 50-51). She testified that Applicant needed to testify to explain his version of events to the jury, particularly once the motion to suppress his statement was denied. (PCR Tr. 51).

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